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1. Name of Property_________________________________________________
historic name WOODLAND HISTORIC DISTRICT_________________________________________ 
other names/site number ______________ _____

2. Location Roughly bounded by Van Buren St., Seventh Ave., Adams St., and 15th Ave.
street & number
city, town Phoenix

m
i#y

not for publication
vicinity

state Arizona code AZ county Maricopa code 013 zip code 85007

3. Classification
Ownership of Property
2L private 

public-local 
public-State 
public-Federal

Category of Property 
bulldlng(8) 
district 
site
structure 
object

Number of Resources within Property
Contributing Noncontrlbutlng 

18 buildings

Name of related multiple property listing:
______N/A ___________

____ ____ structures 
____ ____ objects

89 18 Total 
Number of contributing resources previously 
listed In the National Register _£____

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, I hereby certify that this 
53 nomination ED request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth In 36 CFR Part 60.
In m oes not meet the National Register criteria. See continuation sheet.

Date

State or Federa£jgency and bureau

In my opinion, the property EDI meets ED does not meet the National Register criteria. ED See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:

Qtmtered in the National Register.
ED See continuation sheet. 

ED determined eligible for the National
Register. I I See continuation sheet. 

ED determined not eligible for the
National Register.

ED removed from the National Register. 
ED other, (explain:) ___________

Signature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use
Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC: Single Dwelling_________
RECREATION AND CULTURE: Outdoor 

_________Recreation__________________
EDUCATION: School

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC: Single Dwelling '______ 
RECREATION AND CULTURE: Outdoor 

_____Recreation_______________ 
COMMERCE AND TRADE: Business

7. Description
Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

Concrete
Bungalow/Craftsman 
Neoclassical

foundation 
walls __ Brick

Mission/Spanish Colonial Revival
Stucco

roof _ 
other

Asphalt Shingles

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

SUMMARY

The Woodland Historic District is a residential area composed mainly 
of Bungalow Style single-family houses and some Neo-Colonial and 
Period Revival Style houses. The district lies within an area bounded 
by Van Buren Street on the north, Adams Street on the south, Seventh 
Avenue on the east, and Seventeenth Avenue on the west. It is typi­ 
cal in appearance to other Phoenix neighborhoods of the same era. The 
area within the district is substantially unaltered, with few modern 
intrusions and high integrity overall. In addition to the residential 
aspect of the neighborhood are other features such as the Adams School 
(now Grace Court School), Zion Lutheran Church, and Woodland Park.

DESCRIPTION

Located immediately west of the original Phoenix Townsite, the dis­ 
trict illustrates early residential expansion of the townsite. The 
rational layout of the original townsite with its grid pattern and 
broad avenues is continued in the Woodland District. Wide streets are 
accented by 12- to 15-foot tree lawns, adding to the feeling of spa­ 
ciousness. Mid-sized, one-story Craftsman Bungalows are predominant 
throughout the district. Toward the east Queen Anne Cottages, Neo- 
Colonial, and Spanish Colonial Revival houses are interspersed more 
frequently. As seen today the blocks reflect five subdivisions of the 
Neahr's Addition- of 1880 and one closely related surviving block of 
the Capitol Addition on the north side of Monroe Street between fif­ 
teenth and Sixteenth Avenues. The blocks east of Twelvth Avenue are 
oriented north-south with homes facing Nineth, Tenth, Eleventh, and 
Twelvth Avenues. The blocks west of Twelvth Avenue are oriented east- 
west with houses facing Woodland and Monroe Streets.

At the east end of the district Adams School(Grace Court School) occu­ 
pies most of a block. Much of this block remains unsubdivided and 
reflects the large lots of this portion of the original Neahr's Addi­ 
tion. Formerly the Adams School, the three Neoclassical buildings of

continuation sheet
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Grace Court School are in the center of the block with the main build­ 
ing facing Adams Street to the south. A secondary building faces 
Woodland Avenue to the north. The third building is sited between 
the other two. The northwest corner of the block is subdivided into 
four residential lots with houses facing Nineth Avenue.

Across Ninth Avenue to the west, the Zion Evangelical Lutheran Church 
sits on an original Neahr's Addition parcel. Four residences to the 
south are placed on lots of varying sizes, indicating they were par­ 
celled out individually rather than as part of an organized subdivi­ 
sion. Moving again to the west, on either side of Tenth Avenue are 
residences of Grey's subdivision. The mixture of Queen Anne Cottage, 
and Neo-colonial houses reflect the periods of growth beginning before 
the turn of the century.

The El Fresnal subdivision is comprised of the houses on the east side 
of Eleventh Avenue. The mixture of Bungalow Style and Period Revival 
houses reflects the later subdivision and development of El Fresnal. 
Of special note is the Eyrich House on Woodland Avenue. Built in the 
Neo-colonial style, this house dates to 1885, the oldest in the dis­ 
trict. In between Eleventh and Twelvth Avenues the houses in Walker's 
Subdivision are mostly bungalows although a few are of the Neo-Coloni- 
al style.

The block orientation changes west of Twelvth Avenue. Another east- 
west street, Monroe, appears between Adams Street and Woodland Avenue. 
The houses face Monroe Street or Woodland Avenue. The area between 
Twelvth and Thirteenth Avenues was subdivided as Athena Place and is 
entirely made up of Bungalow style houses with the exception of two 
modern intrusions.

The largest of the subdivisions of Neahr's Addition within the dis­ 
trict is Woodland Place between Thirteenth and Fifteenth Avenues. 
With the exception of one Mission Revival house, the area containing 
thirty-three historic properties is composed solely of Bungalow style 
houses and demonstrates the variety and individuality of designs 
possible within this style.

Further west on Monroe Street, between Fifteenth and Seventeenth 
Avenues, a row of bungalows lines the north side of the street.

Spanning the northern boundary of the district, between Woodland 
Avenue and Van Buren Street, is Woodland Park. One of Phoenix' earli-
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est parks, this sixty-foot-wide greenbelt features the Veterans ofFor­ 
eign Wars Armory building and the Arizona National Guard Adjutant 
General's building near its east end. The VFW Armory Building, at the 
far east end, with quoins at its corners and stepped parapets, shows 
an Italian Rennaissance influence. The Arizona National Guard Building 
just to the west contrasts the Armory with its Moderne style with 
distinctive fluted pilasters. Woodland Park is a major unifying 
element for the district, with most homes along Woodland Avenue ori­ 
ented toward it.

Of the 122 properties within the Woodland District, twenty one are 
considered noncontributors, producing a ratio of about one to six. 
The noncontributors are a mixture of altered historic houses and 
modern residential buildings. Due to their relatively low numbers, 
their visual impact is low and does not affect the visual integrity of 
the district.

The district is well defined, having open parking lots to the south 
and west, and commercial areas to the north, east and west. Within the 
district a continuous historic residential character exists.

WOODLAND HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Contributing Properties

1.1
1.2
1.3
2.1
2.2
2 
f\ r>
4

5
7
8
10
11
12
i *> 10
34
15
16
17

736 W. Woodland Avenue
860 W. Woodland Avenue
(Church, Woodland & 9th)
126 N. 9th Avenue
122 N. 9th Avenue
104 N. 9th Avenue
911-15 W. Woodland Avenue
919-21 W. Woodland Avenue
141 N. 10th Avenue
133 N. 10th Avenue
127 N. 10th Avenue
346-8 N. 10th Avenue
142-4 N. 10th Avenue
138-40 N. 10th Avenue
134-6 N. 10th Avenue
130-2 N. 10th Avenue
128 N. 10th Avenue
126 N. 10th Avenue
120 N. 10th Avenue

18
19
20
21
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
31

35
38
39
*-i3
44

1019 W. Woodland Avenue 
1015 W. Woodland Avenue 
137-9 N. llth Avenue 
133-5 N. llth Avenue 
125-7 N. llth Avenue 
121-3 N. llth Avenue 
117-9 N. llth Avenue 
138-40 N. llth Avenue 
134-6 N. llth Avenue 
130-2 N. llth Avenue 
126-8 N. llth Avenue 
120 N. llth Avenue 
134-16 N. llth Avenue 
1315 W. Woodland Avenue 
1319 W. Woodland Avenue
25-7 N. 12th Avenue
23 N. 12th Avenue
209 W. Woodland Avenue 

1215-15 W. Woodland Avenue
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45
46
47
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89

562
565

1219 W. Woodland Avenue 
211 N. 13th Avenue 
1218 W. Monroe Street 
1301-3 W. Woodland Avenue 
1305 W. Woodland Avenue 
1309 W. Woodland Avenue 
1315 W. Woodland Avenue 
1319 W. Woodland Avenue 
1321 W. Woodland Avenue 
1325-7 W; . Woodland Avenue 
1329 W. Woodland Avenue 
1333-5 W. Woodland Avenue 
1337-9 W. Woodland Avenue 
1341 W. Woodland Avenue 
1345 W. Woodland Avenue 
1346-8 W. Monroe Street 
1342 W. Monroe Street 
1326 W. Monroe Street 
1322 W; . Monroe Street 
1318-20 W; . Monroe Street 
1314 W. Monroe Street 
1310 W. Monroe Street 
1306-8 W. Monroe Street 
1302-4 W. Monroe Street 
1301-3 W. Monroe Sireet 
1305 W. Monroe Street 
1309-11 W. Monroe Street 
1315 W. Monroe Street 
1317-19 W. Monroe Street 
1321 W. Monroe Street 
1325-7 W. Monroe Street 
1329-31 W. Monroe Street 
1333-5 W. Monroe Street 
1337-9 W. Monroe Street 
134]-3 W. Monroe Street 
1345 W. Monroe Street 
13]-33 N. 9th Avenue 
127-9 N. 9th Avenue

564.1
564.2
564.3
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
575
577

Grace School 
Grace School 
Grace School 
1502 W. Monroe Street 
1506 W. Monroe Street 
1508 W. Monroe Street 
1510 W. Monroe Street 
1514 W. Monroe Street 
1526 W. Monroe Street 
1530 W. Monroe Street 
1534 W. Monroe Street 
1538 W. Monroe Street 

N. 16th Avenue
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WOODLAND HISTORIC NEIGHBORHOOD
Non-Contributing Properties_____

1 N. 9th Avenue
6 135-7 K. 10th Avenue

22 129 K. llth Avenue
25.1 146 N. llth Avenue
30 122 N. llth Avenue
36 209 K. 12th Avenue
37 207 N. 12th Avenue
42.1 1201 W. Woodland Avenue
50 1206 W. Monroe Street
50.1 1202 W. Monroe Stree:
51 208 N. 12th Avenue
70.1 1334 W. Monroe Street

556 1330 W. Monroe Siree:
559 142 N. llth Avenue
560 345 K. 9th Avenue
573 1536 W. Monroe Street
5~4 1538 W. Monroe Street
576 K. 16th Avenue



8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

l~l nationally l~l statewide [X] locally

Applicable National Register Criteria fxlA f~~lB l~1c

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) QUA E]B d|C CUD C]E

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Community Planning and Development 1880-1941 _______ ________

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Significant Person, Architect/Builder .

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

SUMMARY

The middle-class residential neighborhoods created in Phoenix at the 
turn-of-the century are well-represented in the Woodland Historic 
District. The district consists of a bungalow neighborhood unified by 
the linear Woodland Park and enhanced by Adams School(GM-564.1,.2,.3) 
and Zion Lutheran Church(GM-1.3). Its development resulted from 
patterns and influences unique to Phoenix during the city's early 
growth. The resulting neighborhood environment reflects growth influ­ 
enced by the practical reality of real estate development in spite of 
formal "urban planning. The Woodland Historic District's subdivision 
and development history demonstrates the evolution of real estate 
speculation strategies as the perceived scale and speed of the City's 
growth increased dramatically during the first two decades of the 
twentieth century.

The Woodland Historic District is eligible for listing on the National 
Register under Criterion A within the context of planning and develop­ 
ment in Phoenix, 1880-1939. Its period of significance begins with the 
platting and layout of the Neahr's Addition in 1880, includes the 
subsequent subdivisions and development of various large parcels and 
ends with the construction of the National Guard Office in Woodland 
Park in 1939.

BACKGROUND OF EARLY PHOENIX RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT

The subdivision and speculation of real estate was a major economic 
activity in early Phoenix. In the rapidly growing city of the 1880s 
and of the 1900s through 1920s there was much profit to be made from 
the purchase, holding, resale, subdivision, and parceling out of land. 
Agricultural land was bought and held, and resold as the city grew 
toward it; when an area became easily accessible to the business



9. Malor Bibliographical References

Previous documentation on file (NFS):
EH preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67)

has been requested 
__ previously listed In the National Register

previously determined eligible by the National Register
designated a National Historic Landmark 

_ recorded by Historic American Buildings
Survey 0 _______________________ 

O recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record *_______________________

GEJ See continuation sheet

Primary location of additional data: 
^ State historic preservation office

Other State agency 
._. Federal agency

Local government
University
Other 

Specify repository:

10. Geographical Pita
Acreage of property 33

UTM References
A |1 .2 I |3 19 .8 |6 ,4 .0 I I 3.7 10 ,116 .6 .0 I 

Zone Easting Northing
C II .2 I 1319,914,0,01 13,710,114.3,01

B Ili2l l3lQiql4in.nl 13,710,116,6,01
Zone Easting Northing

D|1.2| 1319,816,4,01 |3.7|0.1|4.7,0|

I I See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description 

See attached map.

I I See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification -,-,**•* • ^ ,_ • -, • , i_ ,. ^, • -, ^ The District boundary encompasses a well-defined residential neighborhood comprised of
individual subdivisions which developed during the period 1880-1938. Development outside 
the boundary is markedly different in character from that within the district. On the 
north, the main thoroughfare of Van Buren Street forms a barrier. On the west and 
south, vacant parcels and modern development abuts the district. And on the east, 
an area of poor-integrity commercial properties lieaJDetween the district and Seventh Avenue . Sae continuation sneet

11. Form Prepared By
name/title Robert G. Graham
organization Don W. Rvden, AIA/Architects, Inc. October 1991
street & number 
city or town __

645 N. 4th Ave., Suite A
Phoenix

telephone
State Arizona

602/253-5381
zip code 85003

*U.S,QPO: 1988-0-223-918
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district, through walking, streetcar lines, and later, automobiles, 
the area could be subdivided and replatted into denser residential 
lots.

Residential land was sold both to speculative builders and directly to 
homeowners. The key selling points for residential lots were loca­ 
tion, size, and building restrictions. In the era before the automo­ 
bile, the most desirable properties clustered around the central 
business district, or close to the streetcar lines that tied them to 
the downtown area. In neighborhoods catering to wealthier clients, 
deed restrictions required houses of a certain cost to be built, thus 
ensuring a minimum quality for the residences in the area. Subdivi­ 
sions marketed toward speculative builders and landlords commonly had 
no such restrictions.

The typical layout of a residential subdivision in Phoenix in the 
years between 1890 and 1930 was quite simple. Most residential lots 
in Phoenix had a 50-foot frontage, while normal lot depths varied from 
120 to 200 feet. The streets, as a rule, were laid out in a rectilin­ 
ear grid system oriented to the cardinal compass points and in align­ 
ment with the streets of adjacent subdivisions.

The development of Phoenix 1 earliest additions and subsequent subdivi­ 
sions followed the natural growth patterns of the city from its origin 
in 1870, when the Phoenix Townsite was platted where downtown is 
today. The townsite was the nucleus of a community formed as a result 
of the restoration of a prehistoric Hohokam Indian canal system, which 
made farming possible in this arid Sonoran Desert region. In the 
years that followed, virtually all the lands surrounding the townsite 
were homesteaded by pioneers to the area. These homesteads would one 
day be platted as additions to the townsite and then be further subdi­ 
vided as suburban residential lots.

The original Phoenix Townsite plan clearly set the precedent for the 
design and layout of the adjacent subdivisions that were platted 
before 1900. The townsite was based on the cadastral survey system 
with its north, east, and west boundaries at section lines, and its 
southern boundary and central north-south road at half section lines.

The plan was a rectangular shape, completely symmetrical in its street 
and block layout. Its design was intended to allow for equally advan­ 
tageous expansion of the townsite on all four sides. Major thorough­ 
fares (100 feet wide) included two east-west avenues and four north-
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south avenues.

The pattern of square blocks and the designation of certain roads as 
thoroughfares was repeated in early adjacent subdivisions, therefore 
reinforcing the planning concept of the Phoenix Townsite. That pat­ 
tern can be seen in additions extending nearly a mile in each direc­ 
tion from the townsite.

As Phoenix grew around its downtown core, new residential subdivisions 
were added to the city. The quarter-sections adjacent to the townsite 
were the first additions to the City of Phoenix. Some of the addi­ 
tions were originally subdivided before there was pressure for dense 
residential development in the immediate area. The large size of the 
lots was such that a more rural lifestyle was possible than in the 
center of the city. A plentiful supply of water was close at hand 
from the Salt River Valley Canal and Grand Canal. The introduction in 
1893 of electric streetcars to the 1887 Phoenix Street Railway Company 
lines added to the desirability of owning a "garden lot" outside the 
original townsite.

Although Phoenix 1 canal system made it possible to farm the desert, 
the cycle of flood and drought slowed the city's development until 
1911, just before statehood, when the completion of Roosevelt Dam 
ensured a constant and steady water supply to the entire Salt River 
Valley. A building boom followed, as more subdivisions were added to 
the city to meet a seemingly unending demand for single-family houses. 
During this period of growth based on reclamation projects, various 
parts of the earliest large-lot additions were being replatted for a 
denser residential use. The large multi-acre parcels were subdivided 
into lots of a size comfortable for houses, typically 50 x 135 feet.

With the advent of the automobile and the movement from owner-built to 
developer-built housing, the patterns of land subdivision changed 
significantly. Residential lots became somewhat standardized and 
slightly larger in response to the market demands of a substantial 
middle-class population. Housing lot designs incorporated space for 
automobiles. Parks and public space planning shifted from passive, 
central plazas to recreation oriented neighborhood parks. Local 
retail stores, corner markets, gasoline stations and schools became 
integral parts of twentieth-century subdivision planning. In addi­ 
tion, adequate, modern utilities were prerequisites for any growing 
urban center such as Phoenix. Allowances for utilities in the form of 
public rights-of-way and alleys became typical components of subdivi-
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sion planning.

THE SUBDIVISION HISTORY OF WOODLAND HISTORIC DISTRICT

Neahr's Addition

The Neahr's Addition was surveyed by Herbert R. Patrick in 1880. It is 
the best example of the extension of the original intent of the Phoe­ 
nix Townsite plan. The addition featured a continuation of the town- 
site's grid plan and a central public park. On eight large blocks 
(four each along the northern and southern boundaries) were located 
"first class garden lots" containing approximately one acre each. 
Large, agricultural lots such as these were typical of 19th century 
subdivisions in Phoenix.

As with other subdivisions to the west of the Phoenix Townsite, build­ 
ing on the lots was slower than originally envisioned. In 1893 there 
were fewer than 40 buildings in the addition. Much of the property 
had been purchased in block-size parcels by early land speculators. 
By late 19th century the large blocks fronting Woodland Avenue were 
subdivided into smaller blocks and residence lots. Five such subdivi­ 
sions occurred between 1893 and 1913, primarily in response to the 
early 20th century population boom and resultant housing shortage. 
Portions of all five subdivisions are a part of the Woodland Historic 
District and exemplify the residential development trends of Neahr's 
Addition. The proximity to the government center also influenced the 
area as seen by the connection to public service had by many of its 
residents and owners.

H. Gray's Subdivision

One of the first replattings was H. Gray's Subdivision of portions of 
Neahr's Block II. Harry Gray, a carpenter, and W.W. Hibbard were the 
original owners who recorded the subdivision in 1893. W.P. Steen was 
the surveyor. He laid out 24 lots facing the northern extension of 
Tenth Avenue between Woodland Avenue and Adams Street. The subdivi­ 
sion was not fully built up until the mid-1930s; in fact, by 1915 only 
twelve homes had been built. Only four of those pre-1915 structures 
still exist, three dating from 1893 to 1901. They are 133 North Tenth 
Avenue (GM-7), 127 North Tenth Avenue (GM-8), and 136 North Tenth 
Avenue (GM-13).

Woodland Place
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Woodland Place was also recorded in 1893. It was a subdivision of 
Neahr's Block IV bounded by 13th and 15th Avenues. C.B. Ming and Neri 
F. Osborn owned the block and occupied homes there. Osborn was the 
Maricopa County Recorder and Ming was a bookkeeper for H.W. Ryder 
Lumber Company. Among their neighbors was Richard McGillen, an assist­ 
ant Secretary of State under the first Secretary S.P. Osborn, who 
later became Governor. N.E. Condon, deputy county surveyor, platted 
the subdivision. It consists of two blocks with 48 lots facing Adams, 
Monroe, and Woodland. Few homes were built before 1911. A signifi­ 
cant housing construction boom in 1913-1914 helped the subdivision's 
development. In 1915 the subdivision was almost completely built up 
with bungalows.

Walker's Subdivision

Walker's Subdivision was recorded in 1906 and was a replatting of the 
east three-quarters of Block III. The owners of the property were 
A.M. Pecka, Dr. A. Myers, and J.W. Cornell. City engineer O.A. Turney 
surveyed and platted the subdivision which contained 24 lots facing 
llth and 12th Avenues. By 1915, seventeen homes had been built on the 
lots. Thirteen still exist.

Athena Place

In 1910 Joseph E. Lobit, owner of the remainder of Block III recorded 
its re-subdivision as Athena Place. O.A. Turney was again the survey­ 
or. The subdivision consists of two blocks with ten lots each front­ 
ing Woodland, Monroe, and Adams. By 1915 all but five lots had been 
built upon, mostly with well-crafted Bungalow Style homes. Eleven 
still exist and are located within the Woodland Historic District. 
Among the residents was W.L. Osborn(GM-48), a successful rancher 
whose nephew became an Arizona Governor. Another resident was Charles 
Sullivan(GM-52), a Phoenix Commissioner and Treasurer of the Salt 
River Valley Water Users Association.

El Fresnal

The last of the major subdivisions of Neahr's Addition within the 
Woodland Historic District was El Fresnal, recorded in 1913. It 
comprised the original Lots Four and Five of Block II which was owned 
by J.P. Eyrich, S.H. Blackburn, and Albert D. Leyhe. Eyrich was one of 
the first to build a home on a garden lot facing Woodland. The
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house(GM-34) is the oldest remaining building in the Neahr's Addition. 
El Fresnal was surveyed by Will S. Dorman and contains ten lots facing 
llth Avenue. By 1934 the lots were fully developed.

DEVELOPMENTAL INFLUENCES IN THE WOODLAND HISTORIC DISTRICT

The history of local growth and change within the historic district 
can be closely linked to forces of change which affected the city, 
state, and nation. The reactions of real estate developers and specu­ 
lators to the changing economic, social, and political climate are 
reflected in the physical manifestation of the residential neighbor­ 
hood.

An optimistic outlook pervaded the young community of Phoenix in the 
"boom years" of 1880 through 1892. During this period vast opportuni­ 
ties for agricultural development appeared with completion of the 
Arizona Canal in 1884 by William J. Murphy's Arizona Improvement 
Company. Agriculture was the economic base of the town. More arable 
land meant more available jobs in farming and, even more important, in 
related services of support, marketing, and shipping. In 1888 Phoenix 
was linked by rail for the first time to the southern transcontinental 
line by the Maricopa and Phoenix Railroad. This portal to the nation 
opened a regional market for agricultural products and a source of 
processed building materials previously unavailable. In 1889 Phoenix 
was made the Territorial capital, thus solidifying the town's position 
as the political as well as commercial focus of Arizona. Phoenix's 
infrastructure of roads, utilities, and public transit also began at 
this time. M.A. Sherman's Phoenix Street Railway Company established 
mule-drawn streetcars in 1887 and converted to electric trolleys in 
1893, extending service far beyond the townsite. The alignment of the 
new streetcar lines was not only a reaction to the existing patterns 
of homes and businesses but also a catalyst for development in areas 
previously unserved. Just as the canal builders invested in the 
farmland to be irrigated, so too the street railway builders speculat­ 
ed in the residential property to be served.

The creation of Neahr's Addition in 1880 as the westward extension of 
the original townsite is a significant demonstration of a nineteenth- 
century approach to real estate development and a very early expres­ 
sion of speculator confidence in the future of the young farm town. 
The addition developed slowly through the 1880s primarily because it 
was sold by blocks to speculators rather than by lot to prospective 
homeowners. The concept of providing three sizes of lots for differ-
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ent land uses, (small commercial parcels, standard residential lots, 
and large "garden lots") appears to have proven inappropriate to the 
scale of the town and the rate of its growth. By 1893 on a tide of 
optimism, land speculators who had held the property for years began 
to replat their blocks by consolidating the small commercial lots and 
subdividing the large garden lots to create marketable single-family 
residential lots. The 1893 subdivisions of H. Gray and Woodland Place 
began this trend in response to general economic growth, expanding 
government-related employment, and convenience of public transit 
system.

The boom years were not destined to last in Phoenix, for like the 
nation, the local economy suffered due to the Financial Panic of 1893. 
Furthermore local farmers were devastated by a series of natural 
disasters; the Salt River flood of 1891 which destroyed the earthen 
dams and canal heads, and two droughts in 1894 through 1898 and 1901 
through 1904 which destroyed two-thirds of the valley's fields. 
Additionally, the Cave Creek flood in 1905 innundated most of Phoenix 
west of Seventh Avenue including the recently completed Capitol build­ 
ing (1901). The few bright spots during these "years of uncertainty" 
were the completion in 1895 of the Santa Fe, Prescott and Phoenix 
Railroad which connected Phoenix to the northern transcontinental rail 
line and the passage of the 1902 National Reclamation Act plus the 
organization of the Salt River Valley Water Users Association which 
led to the construction of Roosevelt Dam.

As a result of the tightening of loan requirements very little house 
construction or lot sales occurred in the Woodland district between 
1893 and 1906. For speculators and developers, this was an unsettled 
time of reflection and repositioning in hopes of better times ahead as 
foreshadowed by the movement for major reclamation projects.

The construction of Roosevelt Dam brought vital stability to the water 
supply and hence, growth to Phoenix. The dedication of the dam in 
1911 was symbolic of the beginning of Phoenix's emergence as a for­ 
midable western city. It was the cornerstone of the first significant 
building boom in the city's history. Furthermore, Arizona's admission 
to the United States in 1912 increased the city's political importance 
and created the need for many more governmental workers and support 
services.

The progress toward assuring a reliable water supply stirred the 
entrenched landholders into action. The construction of Roosevelt Dam
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(1906-11) was the signal that better economic times were on the hori­ 
zon. Block-holding speculators began selling residential lots in 
existing subdivisions west of Seventh Avenue. By 1909 sixteen new 
subdivisions were opened around the city. By 1914 the number grew to 
37. From 1905 to 1913 the number of real estate companies doubled. 
By 1920 Phoenix boasted eighty real estate offices. Among the most 
prominent were E.J. Bennitt, Greene and Griffin, Dwight B. Heard, Hill 
and Claflin, and N.A. Morford.

It was during Phoenix's "reclamation years" that the first general 
contracting companies appeared consolidating the individual construc­ 
tion tradesmen. Until this time individual lot owners would contract 
with each trade separately to construct a house which was either 
architect-designed or copied from a pattern book. Now the aspiring 
homeowner could rely upon a single contractor to be responsible for 
coordination of trades.

Growth in the construction industry was dramatic during this period. 
Many burgeoning businesses were small operations or specialized trades 
such as concrete, cement, and brick contractors. Building companies 
also appeared for the first time in Phoenix history and undertook 
speculative residential construction in the expanding subdivisions.

Homebuilders, Inc. was the earliest and most prominent of these busi­ 
nesses. It was established in 1910 by realtors Greene and Griffin, 
with R.H. Greene as president. Homebuilders Inc. constructed modern 
houses on lots owned by Greene and Griffin or the Phoenix Realty 
Company, who then sold the improved lots on the easy payment plan. To 
offset the housing shortage brought on by Phoenix's increased popula­ 
tion, speculative duplexes, or "double houses", were also built by 
Homebuilders Inc. For the first time rental houses became a popular, 
profitable investment opportunity in the Phoenix market.

During this period the popular, economic use of concrete for buildings 
as well as street paving led to the establishment of the Maricopa 
Concrete Company, and J.C. Steele and Company (GM-101). Steele's 
business was the most prolific and long-lasting of the concrete con­ 
struction firms.

By 1910 the Neahr' s Addition was annexed by the City of Phoenix, 
further increasing incentives for building. The development of Wood­ 
land Park by the City of Phoenix in 1913 also contributed to the 
area's popularity. Between 1911 and 1915 the Woodland, Athena, and
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Walker subdivisions were almost completely built up with new homes. 
Theses ubdivisions form the core of the Woodland Historic District. 
Substantial bungalows were built in the subdivision and were occupied 
by central Phoenix business persons and state government employees. 
Notable houses include the Maddock/Clark house (GM-47), the W.L. 
Osborn House (GM-48), the Kate Sabra House (GM-62), the 
Marshall/Hegman House (GM-69), the Justice N.T. McKee House (GM-72), 
and the C.M. Stillson House (GM-74). In response to the needs of the 
established neighborhood and the city's progressive approach to public 
institutions, the Adams School (later called Grace Court School) was 
built in 1911.

Another important architectural and community focal point of the 
Woodland Historic District developed during this period. In 1911 the 
first Lutheran congregation in Arizona was organized as the Zion 
Evangelical Lutheran Church. The congregation selected property in 
Neahr's Addition adjacent to Woodland Park at Ninth Avenue for con­ 
struction of their church. The original 1918 church building (GM-1.3) 
was designed by prominent Tucson architect Henry O. Jaastad and built 
by local contractor Fred Panberg.

The third decade of the twentieth century is significant as a period 
in which Phoenix was transformed from a town into a metropolitan city 
and a major southwest distributing center. At the close of World War 
I, Phoenix endured a short-lived depression, brought on in part by the 
national economic trends and locally by a dramatic slump in cotton 
prices.

The latter factor had a significant effect on Phoenix's growth, and 
the years between 1919 and 1921 were slow ones for building. The local 
shortage of new homes, at a time when the city's population was grow­ 
ing to nearly 30,000 persons, led to an "orgy of rent profiteering".

When the economy began to stabilize in the early 1920s, new residen­ 
tial construction reached all time highs. In 1920 Phoenix building 
developers began to make rapid strides toward the solution of the 
housing problem. That year 813 new houses, valued at $1,500,000 were 
constructed in Phoenix. Many were multi-family dwellings providing 
homes for over 1000 families, by the end of 1925 building permits 
totaled $3,183,000 in construction value.

The growth of Phoenix immediately after World War I and through the 
1920s was also measured by the number of public services and institu-
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tions, schools, churches, and parks which were built. In 1923 there 
were seventeen grammar schools within the City of Phoenix. In 1916 
the city's modest inventory of parks and recreation facilities includ­ 
ed only Eastlake Park, Library Park, Riverside Park, and Woodland 
Park.

The development of city parks became a major issue in the 1920s, due 
in part to the rapidly expanding residential districts and the limited 
number of existing parks. The planning for expansion during this 
period was realized in the parks construction and development program 
of the 1920s.

The development of west Phoenix had been impeded by the ever present 
threat of flooding from Cave Creek whose floodplain centered on about 
Nineteenth Avenue. In spite of that danger, residential subdivisions 
had been platted within the floodplain. In fact the land donated to 
the Territorial government by M.A. Sherman for the construction of 
the Capitol was also in the floodplain. The statehouse was flooded in 
1905 and again in 1921. In response to the recurring inundations the 
State, Maricopa County, City of Phoenix, and the Salt River Valley 
Water Users Association financed the construction of Cave Creek Dam in 
order to prevent future disasters. Its completion in 1923 finally 
encouraged building on long-vacant lots west of the central city.

In the slow-to-develop H. Gray's Subdivision, numerous duplex bunga­ 
lows were built on Tenth Avenue in the early 1920s in response to the 
local shortage of new homes. These houses appear to have essentially 
completed the initial build-out of the Woodland District, leaving only 
scattered vacant lots to be filled during the late 1920s and early 
1930s. The chronology of development of the neighborhood is generally 
reflected in its architectural styles. The area is dominated by the 
Bungalow Style but also retains examples of earlier Queen Anne cot­ 
tages and Neo-colonial houses and of later Spanish Colonial Revival 
houses.

In 1927 the Town Ditch was enclosed or "tiled" by the Water Users for 
the sake of safety and water conservation, further enhancing the 
neighborhood's finest amenity, Woodland Park. The covering of the 
ditch allowed the construction in 1928 of the Veterans of Foreign Wars 
Armory/Lodge in Woodland Park.

The building boom in Phoenix came to an abrupt halt in 1930 following 
the Stock Market Crash of October 1929. The Great Depression was most
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severe in Phoenix from 1931 to 1933. Although the local economy re­ 
bounded quickly from the Depression and the population count remained 
on the increase, development was limited to low-rise commercial in­ 
fill, auto-oriented businesses along the primary highways and major 
intersections, and some residences. Work projects of the New Deal had 
a profound effect on the economy and image of Phoenix beginning in 
about 1933. Furthermore, in 1938 a major addition was constructed on 
the rear of the State Capitol to accommodate a growing number of 
agencies and workers.

During the New Deal Era, Woodland benefited from President Roosevelt's 
WPA program through the construction in 1939 of the Arizona National 
Guard Adjutant General's Office in Woodland Park. This Federal Mo- 
derne style building was designed by O.A. Bell, who was the architect 
of the 1938 State Capitol Addition.

Nearby at Zion Lutheran Church a parochial school building was added 
in 1930 as well as a new Gothic Revival sanctuary in 1938. Phoenix 
architect Harold Eckman incorporated the earlier Jaastad building into 
the new sanctuary. These institutional and religious structures 
signaled the close of the initial development period of Woodland 
Historic District at the threshold of World War II.

INTEGRITY

Today the residential history of Neahr's Addition is architecturally 
preserved only within the subdivisions of the Woodland Historic Dis­ 
trict. With the exception of individual historic resources such as 
the Carnegie Library and Park and the Queen Anne style Evans House, 
very little remains of the Addition's residential fabric. The south­ 
ern three-quarters of Neahr's Addition has been impacted by the Gov­ 
ernmental Mall along Washington and Jefferson Streets and scattered 
commercial/industrial businesses north of the railroad tracks.

The Woodland Historic District is characterized as having a high 
density of houses with high integrity in fair to poor condition. Few 
vacant lots or intrusive, non-historic buildings interrupt the resi­ 
dential streetscapes. Few insensitive additions or alterations are 
seen from the street. Vacancy and neglect by absentee landlords and 
low-income renters appears to be the primary reason for the houses' 
poor condition. The linear Woodland Park is the primary unifying 
element of the district, tying the residential blocks to the institu­ 
tional properties at the east end.
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Some properties within the district are threatened by both external 
and internal forces. Pressure from the parking lot needs of the 
Governmental Mall immediately to the south tends to erode the residen­ 
tial inventory through demolition. This adverse situation is further 
aggravated by both vandalism and neglect on the part of renters and 
landlords. In spite of modern redevelopment pressures, Woodland 
Historic District retains a remarkable unity and "sense of place" of 
its historic period, demonstrating the trends of real estate develop­ 
ment and speculation in early Phoenix.
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